STATE OF WISCONSIN

RECEIVED 08-12-2014

COURT OF APPEALS

08-12-2014

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT 4

STATE OF WISCONSIN, Plaintiff-Respondent,

v. Appeal No.: 14-AP-518

BERNARD I. ONYEUKWU, Defendant-Appellant.

Grant County Circuit Court Case No.: 11-CF-68

DEFENDANT-APPELLANT'S BRIEF

Appeal from the Circuit Court for Grant County, Robert P. VanDeHey, Judge.

Law Offices of Robert Nagel Attorneys for the Defendant-Appellant

Robert F. Nagel Bar No.: 1022091

30 W. Mifflin St., Suite 1001 Madison, WI 53703 (608) 255-1501

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. THE EVIDENCE WAS INSUFFICIENT THAT TIFFANY SUFFERED FROM A MENTAL ILLNESS OR DEFICIENCY WHICH RENDERS THAT PERSON TEMPORARILY OR PERMANENTLY INCAPABLE OF APPRAISING THE PERSON'S CONDUCT, AND ONYEUKWU KNEW OF SUCH CONDITION

TRIAL COURT ANSWERED: NO

- - a. COUNTS TWO THROUGH SIX ARE
 MULTIPLICITOUS AND PROSECUTION OF
 FOUR OF THESE FIVE COUNTS IS
 BARRED; COUNTS SEVEN THROUGH
 ELEVEN ARE ALSO MULTIPLICITOUS
 AND PROSECUTION OF FOUR OF EACH
 THESE FIVE COUNTS IS BARRED. TRIAL
 COUNSEL'S FAILURE TO PROPERLY
 CRAFT AND ARGUE THIS MOTION WAS
 INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL

TRIAL COURT ANSWERED: NO

b. TRIAL COUNSEL'S FAILURE TO MAKE PROPER HEARSAY OBJECTIONS CONSTITUTES INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL

TRIAL COURT ANSWERED: NO

c. TRIAL COUNSEL'S FAILURE TO OBJECT TO THE PROSECUTOR'S REFERENCE TO TESTIMONY OF A DOCTOR WHEN NO DOCTOR TESTIFIED IN HER CLOSING STATEMENT CONSTITUTES INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL

TRIAL COURT ANSWERED: NO

d. TRIAL COUNSEL'S FAILURE TO DISCUSS ONYEUKWU'S DECISION OF WHETHER OR NOT TO TESTIFY CONSTITUTES INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL

TRIAL COURT ANSWERED: NO

e. TRIAL COUNSEL'S FAILURE TO
INTRODUCE AVAILABLE EVIDENCE TO
CORROBORATE ONYEUKWU'S
TESTIMONY CONSTITUTES INEFFECTIVE
ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL

TRIAL COURT ANSWERED: NO

3. ONYEUKWU MUST BE RESENTENCED TO ENSURE A FAIR SENTENCING BASED UPON ACCURATE INFORMATION

TRIAL COURT ANSWERED: NO

4. THERE WAS AN EX POST FACTO VIOLATION BY DEPRIVING ONYEUKWU OF THE BENEFIT OF THE RISK REDUCTION PROGRAM THAT WAS IN EFFECT AT THE TIME OF HIS OFFENSE

TRIAL COURT ANSWERED: NO

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The issues presented by the first, third, and fourth issues are either issues of first impression or require the application of newly established precedent and are thus issues of statewide importance. Therefore, both oral argument and publication are requested.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

1. PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

Based upon an April 8, 2011, encounter, the defendant-appellant, Bernard Onyeukwu ("Onyeukwu") was charged with the following offenses:

- 1. Kidnaping, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 940.31(1)(b).
- 2. Second degree sexual assault with a dangerous weapon for forcible contact with the victim's breasts, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 940.225(2)(a) and § 939.63(1)(b).
- 3. Second degree sexual assault with a dangerous weapon for forcible cunnilingus, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 940.225(2)(a) and § 939.63(1)(b).
- 4. Second degree sexual assault with a dangerous weapon for forcible contact with the victim's vagina, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 940.225(2)(a) and § 939.63(1)(b).
- 5. Second degree sexual assault with a dangerous weapon for forcing the victim to perform fellatio upon him,

- contrary to Wis. Stat. § 940.225(2)(a) and § 939.63(1)(b).
- 6. Second degree sexual assault with a dangerous weapon for forcible sexual intercourse with the victim, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 940.225(2)(a) and § 939.63(1)(b).
- 7. Second degree sexual assault with a dangerous weapon for contact with a mentally deficient victim's breasts, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 940.225(2)(c) and § 939.63(1)(b).
- 8. Second degree sexual assault with a dangerous weapon for cunnilingus with a mentally deficient victim, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 940.225(2)(c) and § 939.63(1)(b).
- 9. Second degree sexual assault with a dangerous weapon for contact with a mentally deficient victim's vagina, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 940.225(2)(c) and § 939.63(1)(b).
- 10. Second degree sexual assault with a dangerous weapon for engaging in fellatio with a mentally deficient victim, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 940.225(2)(c) and § 939.63(1)(b).
- 11. Second degree sexual assault with a dangerous weapon for sexual intercourse with a mentally deficient victim, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 940.225(2)(c) and §

939.63(1)(b).

(R:9)

The initial six charges were contained in the criminal complaint filed on April 12, 2011 (R:6), and the information filed on April 21, 2011 (R:9). The subsequent five charges were added by the information. Onyeukwu stood mute to the charges and the matter was set for trial (R:48:2).

A motion to dismiss counts 7 through 11 was filed on August 9, 2011. The motion argued that counts 7 through 11 were identical in fact and in law to counts 2 through 6 and were therefore multiplications and in violation of Onyeukwu's right to not be subjected to double jeopardy (R: 10).

The motion to dismiss was heard immediately prior to the trial before a jury in the Grant County Circuit Court on August 10, 2011 (R. 50:3-12). Judge VanDeHey considered the arguments briefly and decided the issue promptly in his opening to the jury, he stated:

The allegations are that on April 8th, 2011, Mr. Onyeukwu, by force or threat of imminent force, did confine Tiffany Logan. And then there are five allegations that by threat of violence he had sexual contact with Ms. Logan without her consent, and they involve allegations of kissing and touching breasts, cunnilingus, looks like vaginal penetration, five separate acts. And then there are also five allegations that Mr. Onyeukwu did have those acts with a person who suffers from a mental deficiency which renders the person temporarily or permanently incapable of appraising the person's conduct and that he knew of such condition (R. 50:14-15).

After the jury was selected and outside the presence of

the jury, Judge VanDeHey provided his reasoning for his decision to permit five acts to lead to potentially ten sexual assault convictions (R. 50:47).

At the trial, there was testimony by the victim (R. 50:62), a woman who works at a doctor's Boscobel doctor's office (R. 50:101), a friend of the victim (R. 50:106), a nurse practitioner (R. 50:110), a registered nurse (R. 50:118), two detectives (R. 50:123, 132), a police officer (R. 50:128), a forensic toxicologist (R. 50:144), a forensic scientist (R. 50:147), Onyeukwu's son (R. 50:167), and Onyeukwu (R. 50:177).

Among the testimony by Laurie Meighan, a nurse practitioner, was that the victim "is probably functioning at about a sixth grade level. She cannot read" (R. 50:112-113). Just before making that assertion, Ms. Meighan noted, "and this was not through me, this was through her paperwork that came to our clinic" (R. 50:112-113). Despite this statement being crucial to the State's proof that the victim suffered a deficiency, no motion was made to strike this testimony as hearsay, not within an exception.

Later that day, the jury returned the following verdicts:

- 1. Not guilty (R. 13).
- 2. Guilty of a lesser-included-offense, fourth degree sexual assault for kissing and touching of the breasts

- without consent (R. 14).
- 3. Not guilty (R. 15).
- 4. Not guilty (R. 16).
- 5. Not guilty (R. 17).
- 6. Guilty of a lesser-included-offense, third degree sexual assault for sexual intercourse without consent (R. 18).
- 7. Guilty of second degree sexual assault for kissing and touching of the breasts of a mentally deficient victim (R. 19).
- 8. Not guilty (R. 20).
- 9. Not guilty (R. 21).
- 10. Not guilty (R. 22).
- 11. Guilty of second degree sexual assault for sexual intercourse with a mentally deficient victim (R. 23).

As to each of the dangerous weapon enhancers that were charged, Onyeukwu was found not guilty (R. 14, 18, 19, 23).

A presentence investigation was neither requested nor ordered (50:305-306) and sentencing occurred 1 week later on August 17, 2011 (R. 51). Sentences were as follows:

- 2. 9 months jail (R. 28).
- 6. 10 years Wisconsin State Prison consisting of 5 years initial confinement followed by 5 years of extended supervision (R. 25, 26).

- 7. 10 years Wisconsin State Prison consisting of 5 years initial confinement followed by 5 years of extended supervision (R. 26).
- 11. 15 years Wisconsin State Prison consisting of 8 years initial confinement followed by 7 years of extended supervision (R. 26).

All sentences were concurrent to each other (R. 26, 28). Judge VanDeHey was unsure if early release continued to be available through a "risk reduction sentence," stating as follows:

There is no more risk reduction sentence, I don't believe. Even if there would be — well, I guess I just don't know [emphasis added]. My recollection is there is no more risk reduction sentence. If that goes by the date of the offense versus the date of the sentencing, I don't have a problem with you doing that. It lets you out a little early if you come up with a plan to show that you won't be subject to a higher risk of re-offending (R. 51:22-23).

However, the opportunity for a reduced sentence was short-lived. By a letter dated August 26, 2011, Offender Records Assistant 2 Justin Nally, informed Judge VanDeHey that Wis. Stat. § 973.031 was repealed by 2011 Wis. Act 38, which had an effective date of August 3, 2011 (R. 54:1). Without any notice or opportunity to be heard, an amended judgment of conviction and sentence was prepared (R. 29). The amended judgment of conviction and sentence revoked the prior determination that:

On counts #6, #7 & #11 if applicable pursuant to

§973.031 Wisconsin Statutes, the court determines the following: [emphasis in original] That a risk reduction sentence is appropriate and the person agrees to cooperate in an assessment of his or her criminogenic factors and his or her risk of reoffending, and to participate in programming or treatment the department develops for the person under §302.042(1). The court imposes a Risk Reduction sentence (R. 26:2, R. 29:2).

A notice of intent to pursue post-conviction relief was filed on August 31, 2011 (R. 27). A motion for a new trial was filed April 26, 2012 (R. 30), and denied by decision and order filed May 9, 2012 (R. 31). A notice of appeal was then filed on July 27, 2012 (R. 32). That appeal was dismissed by a decision and order, dated December 10, 2012 (R. 33).

By a motion dated December 24, 2012, Onyeukwu moved the trial court to modify its sentence as the original sentence was not based upon accurate information (R. 34). By an order dated February 8, 2013, that motion was denied as granting Onyeukwu an opportunity for a reduced sentence was a mere "house keeping" [sic] matter and the confusion about the program's existence was triggered by an "outdated form" (R. 37:3).

A notice of appeal was then filed on February 28, 2013 (R. 38). That appeal was dismissed by an opinion dated October 14, 2013 (R. 39).

A second motion for a new trial and a second motion to modify sentence was filed on November 13, 2013 (R. 40). The bases for the new trial were:

- Sufficiency of evidence that the victim suffered from a mental illness or deficiency that rendered her incapable of appraising her conduct and that Onyeukwu knew of such a condition.
- 2. Counts two through six were multiplications and that trial counsel was ineffective in failing to properly argue this.
- Counts seven through eleven were multiplications and trial counsel was ineffective in failing to properly argue this.

(R. 40).

Constitution (R. 40).

Additionally, it was argued that Onyeukwu should be resentenced because he was deprived of the benefit of the risk reduction program that was in effect at the time of his offense in violation of the ex post facto clause of the U.S.

The November 13, 2013, motion was heard on January 29, 2014, before Judge VanDeHey. At the hearing, there was testimony of trial counsel Jeffrey Erickson and by Onyeukwu (R. 52) In addition to the issues raised by the motion, additional issues were raised at the hearing. In particular:

1. Ineffectiveness of counsel for failure to object to hearsay evidence that the victim functioned at the sixth grade level (R. 52:38).

- 2. Ineffectiveness of counsel for failure to discuss with Onyeukwu the importance of the DNA evidence and the value of a defense DNA expert (R. 52:43).
- 3. Ineffectiveness of counsel for failure to discuss with Onyeukwu his right not to testify and the potential absurdity of his proposed testimony (R. 52:45).
- 4. Ineffectiveness of counsel for failure to introduce into evidence a phone record that corroborated Onyeukwu's version of events (R. 52:62).

By a decision dated February 19, 2014, Judge VanDeHey denied all sought post-conviction relief (R. 44).

Onyeukwu now appeals to the Wisconsin Court of Appeals by a notice of appeal filed March 4, 2014.

2. FACTUAL BACKGROUND

On the morning of April 8, 2011, Onyeukwu was driving his son, Dino, to the medical clinic in Fennimore to be treated for a soccer injury (R. 50:178-179). Once they got to Fennimore, a woman who Onyeukwu had not previously met (R. 50:199), later identified as Tiffany Logan ("Tiffany"), approached their vehicle, and asked Onyeukwu if he could drive her to Lancaster (R. 50:180-181). After the doctor visit, Onyeukwu drove to Platteville to take his son to the middle school, which was in-session (R. 50:185-186). Then, before continuing on the trip to Lancaster, Onyeukwu needed to stop

at his house to "get some money" to "buy McDonald's to eat" (R. 50:188). Next, when Onyeukwu gets out of his car to go in his house, Tiffany follows him in and sits down on his couch in his living room (R. 50:189). According to Onyeukwu, they engage in a brief conversation, which is followed by a brief period of consensual sexual activity that was initiated by Tiffany (R. 50:190-194). Next, they get back in Onyeukwu's car and Onyeukwu drives Tiffany to Lancaster, as previously planned (R. 50:195).

Tiffany's version of the events of that day is similar, however, she claims that she was forced into the car and forced to remain in the car until arriving at Onyeukwu's house (R. 50:62-75). However, given the acquittal of the kidnaping charge and the acquittals on the weapons enhancers, it seems clear that the jury found Onyeukwu's version of the couple's interaction in those respects more credible. Once she went in Onyeukwu's house, Tiffany agrees that there was a couch in the living room and that she sat down on that couch (R. 50:76). Next, Tiffany says that the following sexual activity occurred at Onyeukwu's initiation:

- 1. Onyeukwu touched Tiffany's "boob" (R. 50:78).
- 2. Onyeukwu kissed Tiffany "on the lips" (R. 50:79).
- 3. Onyeukwu then took off Tiffany's pants and underwear and told her to lay [*sic*] down (R. 50:80-81).

- 4. Onyeuwku then touched Tiffany "in the privates" with his hand and then with "his private area" (R. 50:81).
- 5. In response to leading questions by the prosecutor,

 Tiffany indicated that Onyeukwu put his mouth on her vagina, put his fingers in her vagina, put his penis in her vagina, and put his penis in her mouth (R. 50:81-86).

Following this sexual encounter, Tiffany says that Onyeukwu then drove her to the McDonald's in Lancaster, at which time Tiffany went to her cousin's residence in the trailer park behind the McDonald's (R. 50:88). After talking to her cousin about what had happened with Onyeukwu, the decision was made to report the incident to the police (R. 50:88).

There was also testimony from Laurie Meighan ("Meighan"). Meighan is a family nurse practitioner at the Grant Community Clinic in Lancaster (R. 50:110). Meighan testified that Tiffany has been diagnosed with "mild mental retardation," "attention deficit hyperactivity disorder," "bipolar disorder and anxiety-related issues" (R. 50:111). Further, she testified that, "physically she is okay," but that, "[s]he has a difficult time making decisions" (R. 50:112). Additionally, Meighan stated:

With finances, it's difficult for her to go to a store and make a purchase and make appropriate change. She

probably would not know if somebody gave her back the correct amount of change. In choosing what would be appropriate, you know, as far as friendships and appropriate things to say sometimes, she doesn't necessarily have that control. You know, she just will say what's on her mind. In school she struggled intellectually. I believe she was - and this was not through me, this was through her paperwork that came to our clinic - she's probably functioning at about a sixth grade level. She cannot read (R. 50:112-113).

Despite the testimony of Meighan, which was largely based upon Tiffany's medical records, any documented mental deficiency of Tiffany was not necessarily obvious in a brief and casual interaction. The prosecutor attempted to establish that Onyeukwu knew or should have known of Tiffany's mental deficiency, but she was entirely unable to do so, both with her direct examination of Tiffany (R. 50:62-89) and with her cross examination of Onyeukwu (R. 50:195-214). Especially worth noting is the following cross examination of Onyeukwu:

- Q. And when you were talking with her, did you get a sense that maybe she had some intellectual struggles?

 A. Like I said, she was talking to me the way I'm talking to you right now.
- Q. You didn't find it strange the way she was speaking to you?
- A. I didn't find -- no, I didn't. I didn't (R. 50:206).

ARGUMENT

1. THE EVIDENCE WAS INSUFFICIENT THAT TIFFANY SUFFERED FROM A MENTAL ILLNESS OR DEFICIENCY WHICH RENDERS THAT PERSON TEMPORARILY OR PERMANENTLY INCAPABLE OF APPRAISING THE PERSON'S CONDUCT, AND ONYEUKWU KNEW OF SUCH CONDITION

In counts 7-11, Onyeukwu was charged with violations

of Wis. Stat. § 940.225(2)(c) prohibiting sexual contact with a mentally ill or mentally deficient person. In order to convict Onyeukwu under this statute the State must prove that Onyeukwu had sexual contact with Tiffany and that:

Tiffany suffered from a mental illness or deficiency at the time of the alleged sexual intercourse.

The third element requires that the mental illness or deficiency rendered Tiffany temporarily or permanently incapable of appraising her conduct. In other words, Tiffany must have lacked the ability to evaluate the significance of her conduct because of her mental illness or deficiency.

The fourth element requires that the defendant knew that Tiffany was suffering from a mental illness or deficiency and knew that the mental condition rendered Tiffany temporarily or permanently incapable of appraising her conduct.

Wis. JI-Criminal 1211; see also, *State v. Smith*, 215 Wis.2d 84, 572 N.W.2d 496 (Ct. App. 1997).

The evidence was insufficient, as a matter of law, that Tiffany suffered from a mental illness or deficiency rendering her incapable or appraising her own conduct.

The State's sole witness that testified to Tiffany's mental illness or deficiency was a nurse practitioner. Her opinion was based upon information in Tiffany's file at the medical clinic. There was no testimony as to the date of the diagnosis, as to whether it was a permanent diagnosis or a temporary diagnosis that has been subsequently effectively treated. The diagnoses suggested by the Meighan consisted of the following:

- 1. mild mental retardation
- 2. attention deficit hyperactivity disorder
- 3. bipolar disorder and anxiety-related issues
- 4. difficult time make decisions(R. 50:110-113).

Of these four diagnoses, only mild mental retardation seems as if it has any potential for meeting the statutory criteria for a mental illness or deficiency that would cause someone to be unable to appraise their conduct.

In the testimony from the nurse practitioner, there was no development as to what it means to be mildly mentally retarded. Further research indicates that mental retardation is categorized as mild, moderate, severe, and profound. It is notable that mild retardation may have no unusual physical signs. This is consistent with testimony about Tiffany. Further, the mildly retarded can acquire practical skills, can conform socially, can acquire skills for self-maintenance, and can be integrated into general society. These characteristics are at odds with the level of dysfunction contemplated by the statute that criminalizes sex with the mentally deficient.

A conviction should be reversed for insufficient evidence if the evidence, "viewed most favorably to the state

¹Donna K. Daily, M.D., Holly H. Ardinger, M.D., and Grace E. Holmes, M.D., *Identification and Evaluation of Mental Retardation*, American Family Physician, 2000 Feb 15;61(4):1059-1067.

and the conviction, is so lacking in probative value and force that no trier of fact, acting reasonably, could have found guilt beyond a reasonable doubt" *State v. Poellinger*, 153 Wis. 2d 493, 507, 451 N.W.2d 752 (1990). Convictions for counts 7 and 11 must be reversed because there was insufficient evidence that Tiffany suffered from a mental illness or deficiency that rendered her incapable of appraising her conduct and that, even if she did suffer from such a condition, Onyeukwu did not know that she did.

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