RECEIVED

10-21-2014

STATE OF WISCONSIN CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS C O U R T O F A P P E A LOF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2014AP518-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

BERNARD IKECHUKWEL ONYEUKWU,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, ENTERED IN THE GRANT COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE ROBERT P. VANDEHEY PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

J.B. VAN HOLLEN Attorney General

GABE JOHNSON-KARP Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1084731

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

E. The circuit court found that trial counsel did discuss with Onyeukwu whether to testify at trial, and there is no suggestion that the court's credibility determination on this point was clearly erroneous.

Onyeukwu next claims that counsel was ineffective for failing to thoroughly discuss with

⁶See State v. Waste Management of Wisconsin, Inc., 81 Wis. 2d 555, 564, 261 N.W.2d 147 ("An appellate court is not a performing bear, required to dance to each and every tune played on an appeal."), cited with approval in *State v. Pettit*, 171 Wis. 2d 627, 647 n.9, 492 N.W.2d 633 (Ct. App. 1992).

Onyeukwu whether he would testify.⁷ This claim is belied by the record; most importantly, the circuit court found Onyeukwu incredible on this point.

1. Waiver of the right not to testify.

As Onyeukwu correctly notes, the supreme court in *State v. Denson*, 2011 WI 70, 335 Wis. 2d 681, 799 N.W.2d 831, recognized that the right *not to testify*, similar to the right *to testify*, must be waived knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily. *See Denson*, 335 Wis. 2d 681, ¶ 56. But the *Denson* court declined to require an on-the-record colloquy to demonstrate a valid waiver, and instead directed that where a defendant makes a sufficient showing in a postconviction motion alleging invalid waiver, the appropriate remedy is to hold a hearing with the defendant and trial counsel to determine whether the defendant's decision to testify was made knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily. *See id.* ¶¶ 58-68.

Where the defendant makes a prima facie showing that there was a defect in the waiver of

⁷Onyeukwu's argument on this point is phrased in terms of an ineffective-assistance challenge. Such waiver issues, however, may more properly be framed in terms of trial error subject to harmless error analysis. See State v. Nelson, 2014 WI 70, ¶¶ 18-32, 355 Wis. 2d 722, 849 N.W.2d 317. Because Onyeukwu is not entitled to relief under either standard (i.e., under the ineffective-assistance rubric, no prejudice resulted from counsel's failure to inform Onyeukwu of the right not to testify; or, under the harmless error analysis, it is clear beyond a reasonable doubt that the result would have been the same had Onyeukwu not testified), the State addresses the issue as Onyeukwu has framed it.

the right not to testify, the burden shifts to the State to show that the wavier was knowing, intelligent, and voluntary. See id. ¶ 70. The State can meet this burden by showing, from the entire record, including testimony at any postconviction hearings, that the defendant validly waived the right. See id. A circuit court's credibility findings in this context will be sustained unless clearly erroneous. Id. ¶ 48.

2. Onyeukwu received the appropriate remedy for his allegedly improper waiver—a postconviction hearing—at which circuit court concluded that. in light of the testimony presented. Onyeukwu's protestations were not credible, and that his waiver had been valid.

After Onyeukwu claimed in his most recent postconviction motion that he had not validly waived his right not to testify, the issue was explored during the evidentiary hearing, and both Onyeukwu and his trial counsel testified (see 52:43-45, 48-52, 60-63, 70-100). After hearing all the testimony, the circuit court found that trial counsel's account was more credible, and that Onyeukwu's allegations to the contrary were wholly unbelievable, both in light of the testimony at the hearing and the trial record (see, e.g., 52:113 (stating that Onyeukwu was "not a credible witness"); see also 52:113-15). Specifically, the court relied on trial counsel's statements about his practice of always discussing with his clients whether to testify; counsel's assurances that he

had specifically discussed Onyeukwu's testimony in light of the damning DNA evidence; and the trial court record, which indicated that on at least two occasions, the court asked about Onyeukwu's decision to testify and was assured by counsel that Onyeukwu remained intent on testifying (see 52:113-14; see also 52:43-45, 70-76, 86-87).

Now on appeal, rather than attempting to show that the circuit court's findings were clearly erroneous, Onyeukwu seeks to relitigate these issues of fact and credibility. Because his argument does nothing to call into question the circuit court's well-supported findings, those findings should be sustained, and Onyeukwu's claim rejected.

Even more persuasive on this point, though, is the total inability to show prejudice, even assuming that counsel erred in failing to properly inform Onyeukwu on his right not to testify. Most importantly, the DNA evidence presented at trial showed that it was 46,000,000,000,000,000 (fortysix quadrillion) times more likely that the sperm inside TRL was from Onveukwu than it was from anyone else (50:155-56). Moreover, as the circuit court aptly noted, the jury had heard a taped interview in which Onyeukwu told the same story as in his trial testimony, so that Onyeukwu's "absurd" denial would have nonetheless been before the jury, even without his testimony (see 52:88, 114-15). With these considerations in mind, $\operatorname{correctlv}$ concluded circuit court Onyeukwu suffered no prejudice based on his decision to testify (see 52:114-15).

F. Admission of Onyeukwu's phone records would not have discredited the DNA evidence that confirmed that he had engaged in sexual contact with TRL, and therefore counsel's decision not to seek admission of the records was not deficient performance and did not prejudice Onyeukwu.

This argument merits little attention, in light of the uncontroverted DNA evidence showing that it was Onyeukwu's semen found in TRL's vagina and on her rectum (see 50:155-56). For one, Onyeukwu fails to show why counsel would have been deficient for failing to introduce cell phone records that would have showed that, during the period in which the assault occurred, Onyeukwu received two phone calls. He asserts that the records would have established a "timeline" (see 52:95-97), but makes no showing why trial counsel was wholly unreasonable for declining to establish such a timeline, given the other evidence presented.

But if there is any doubt regarding deficient performance, there can be none regarding the complete lack of prejudice. Regardless of whether counsel should have sought to discredit TRL on her recollection of the timing of the assaults (and thus how the two phone calls fit into her recollection of that timing), the timing issue becomes a moot point when one considers the DNA evidence. Whether the assaults took place over the course of two hours (as TRL's testimony seemed to suggest), or between two phone calls (as the purported timeline would seem to require), the

assaults occurred. No "timeline" would have changed the result of the DNA evidence, and Onyeukwu thus cannot show that, had the phone records been introduced, a different result would have been reasonably likely. He suffered no prejudice, and is entitled to no relief.

III. THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY DENIED ONYEUKWU'S MOTION FOR RESENTENCING BASED ON ALLEGED INACCURATE INFORMATION.

Onyeukwu next argues that the circuit court erred in denying his postconviction motion for resentencing (Onyeukwu's brief at 42-46). He claims that the circuit court relied on inaccurate information by making Onyeukwu eligible for a risk reduction sentence when such sentences had been eliminated shortly before Onyeukwu's sentencing hearing (see id. at 44). He is not entitled to resentencing, for the reasons provided below.

A. Governing legal standards.

When reviewing a circuit court's sentencing decision, this court presumes that the circuit court acted reasonably, and will not interfere with the decision unless the circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion. *State v. Lechner*, 217 Wis. 2d 392, 418-19, 576 N.W.2d 912 (1998).

A defendant has a due process right to be sentenced upon materially accurate information. *Id.* at 419. Whether the court has denied a

defendant that right is a question of law subject to de novo review. *State v. Tiepelman*, 2006 WI 66, ¶ 9, 291 Wis. 2d 179, 717 N.W.2d 1.

A defendant seeking resentencing on the grounds that the circuit court used inaccurate information must show, first, that the information was inaccurate, and second, that the court actually relied on that inaccurate information in forming its sentence. Id. ¶ 26 (citing Lechner, 217 Wis. 2d at 419). If the defendant satisfies those requirements, the burden shifts to the State to prove that the error was harmless. Id.

B. Onyeukwu failed to demonstrate either inaccurate information or actual reliance.

At sentencing, the State recommended a sentence of twenty-seven years, made up of twelve years' incarceration and fifteen years' extended supervision (51:4). As noted above, the court sentenced Onyeukwu to concurrent sentences totaling a significantly shorter term: fifteen years' imprisonment, with eight years of confinement and seven years of extended supervision (51:21). Then after the court had announced Onyeukwu's term of imprisonment, the issue of risk reduction sentences came up; the court remarked that it believed that a risk reduction sentence was no longer available, but that it was unsure whether the availability of risk reduction was based on the date of sentencing or the date of the offense (see 51:22-23). The court stated that if its availability was based on the date of the offense, it did not have a problem with designating the sentence as a risk-reduction one (51:23).

The department of corrections informed the court that because risk reduction sentences were repealed effective August 3, weeks before Onveukwu's 2011—several sentencing date—a risk-reduction sentence in Onyeukwu's case was not appropriate (54; A-Ap. 118). The court responded by amending the of conviction to eliminate iudgment designation of the sentence as risk-reduction (29:1-2).

Onyeukwu filed a motion for resentencing, arguing that the court's sentence violated his due process right to be sentenced based on accurate information under *Tiepelman* (34; A-Ap. 113-14). The circuit court denied the motion, stating that in imposing sentence, it did not rely on the assumption that Onyeukwu would successfully satisfy risk-reduction criteria and be released early (37:2-3; A-Ap. 116-17).

As an initial matter, the court's uncertainty whether risk reduction was available does not appear to qualify as "inaccurate information." When the court reached the topic of risk reduction after having announced Onyeukwu's term of incarceration, it stated that such sentences were no longer available (51:22-23). However. explained that it was uncertain whether the effective date of the repeal of the risk reduction statute went to the sentencing date or the date of the offense (id.). Moreover, in the original judgment of conviction the court provided that risk reduction may be appropriate "if applicable" (25:2; A-Ap. 108). Based on the change in the law, risk reduction was not "applicable."

The court's designation of risk reduction was conditional, not "inaccurate." The court stated that

if the triggering date was the date of the offense, making risk reduction available to Onyeukwu, it would designate him as eligible for it. The opposing inference is that if risk reduction was actually triggered by the sentencing date, risk reduction was not available to Onyeukwu and he would have to serve out his full term of confinement in confinement. In sum, the court's remarks about risk reduction were not inaccurate, simply conditional.

That said, even assuming that the court's conditional application of risk reduction was "inaccurate," Onyeukwu cannot demonstrate that the court actually relied on the availability of risk reduction in imposing the sentence. A review of the sentencing transcript demonstrates that the court discussed the seriousness of the offense. noted the aggravating and mitigating factors, applied those factors to sentencing guidelines, and determined that Onyeukwu should serve between five and fourteen years of confinement (51:10-16). After the court announced the sentence—eight years of confinement and seven years of extended supervision—it observed that that period was "basically in the middle of what used to be the sentencing guidelines . . . [and] takes into account ... the aggravated nature of this offense, as well as the rather low risk assessment that you possess" (51:21). In sum, the court gave full and detailed reasoning to support its sentence. explaining that the crime and other factors placed Onyeukwu in the middle of the range suggested by the sentencing guidelines. Risk reduction was not part of that calculus, and the court therefore cannot be said to have "actually relied" on the availability of risk reduction in determining Onveukwu's sentence.

C. Onyeukwu's arguments to the contrary are not persuasive.

Onyeukwu argues that it is logically presumable that the court, had it known that risk reduction was not available, would have set a twenty-five percent shorter term of confinement (Onyeukwu's brief at 44-45). As an initial matter, there's no need to presume anything: The circuit court had an opportunity to consider whether it would have given Onyeukwu a reduced term of confinement when itdenied Onveukwu's postconviction motion (37:1-3).It definitively on the record that the sentence would have been the same—even if it knew that risk reduction was not available—based on its detailed sentencing remarks and the fact that it announced the sentence before considering risk reduction (37:2-3; A-Ap. 116-17). Compare Lechner, 217 Wis. 2d at 422 (noting with approval that the sentencing court clarified at a postconviction hearing its focus on factors other than the erroneous information presented to it) with State v. Fuerst, 181 Wis. 2d 903, 915, 512 N.W.2d 243 (Ct. App. 1994) (remanding for resentencing where (1) the circuit court had a postconviction opportunity to clarify its sentencing remarks but did not do so and (2) the record otherwise contained no evidence that the court did not rely on improper factors).

Moreover, any presumption that the court intended Onyeukwu to serve a shorter term of confinement than the one it imposed is not a logical one. At sentencing, the circuit court clearly stated that it was not sure whether risk reduction was applicable in Onyeukwu's case and was thus aware that he might serve his full term of

confinement in confinement. If the court had intended at all costs that Onyeukwu serve less time in confinement, it could have amended the sentence then and there (or for that matter, when it learned that risk reduction was not available) rather than hazard the possibility that risk reduction was not available.

Further, risk reduction is not a guarantee that an inmate will be released from confinement § 302.042(4) (2009-10) early. Wisconsin Stat. provided that the department of corrections "shall release an inmate who is serving a risk reduction sentence to extended supervision" after the inmate has served at least seventy-five percent of the portion of the sentence confinement successfully completed programming or treatment and maintained a good conduct record during confinement. Nothing about risk guarantees that an inmate will serve a shorter term of confinement, or that a court imposing sentence would justifiably rely on the possibility defendant will satisfy all that a of requirements.

Finally, Onyeukwu's invocation of State v. Travis, 2013 WI 38, 347 Wis. 2d 142, 832 N.W.2d 491, is unavailing (Onyeukwu's brief at 45). In *Travis*, 347 Wis. 2d 142, ¶¶ 26, 49, the defendant successfully demonstrated that there was inaccurate information before the sentencing court regarding a mandatory minimum, and that the sentencing court relied on it. The supreme court ultimately affirmed the court of appeals' order remanding for resentencing because it concluded that the State failed to satisfy its burden on harmless error. Id. ¶ 87. Travis offers nothing to Onyeukwu because, as the circuit court correctly found, Onyeukwu failed to demonstrate that the court relied on inaccurate information regarding risk reduction. Accordingly, the burden has not shifted to the State to prove harmless error.

That said, even if this court were to conclude that Onyeukwu satisfied his burden, any error was harmless. Sentencing errors are harmless when they do not affect the substantial rights of the defendant. State v. Sherman, 2008 WI App 57, ¶ 8, 310 Wis. 2d 248, 750 N.W.2d 500. An error is harmless if there is no reasonable probability that it contributed to the sentence imposed. State v. Payette, 2008 WI App 106, ¶ 46, 313 Wis. 2d 39, 756 N.W.2d 423. There is no contribution when the result would have been the same if the error had not occurred. State v. Weed, 2003 WI 85, ¶¶ 29, 32, 263 Wis. 2d 434, 666 N.W.2d 485 (citation omitted).

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